RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

05-13-2019

IN SUPREME COURT

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2017AP001104-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ROY S. ANDERSON,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals, District II, Affirming a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Racine County Circuit Court, the Honorable Michael J. Piontek Presiding.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

JAY PUCEK Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1087882

Office of the State Public Defender 735 N. Water Street - Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 pucekj@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

ISSUES PRESENTED				
STATEMENT OF THE CASE				
ARGUMENT				
I.	The warrantless search of Mr. Anderson was illegal because Officer Seeger did no have sufficient knowledge that he was subject to Act 79, and there was no reasonable suspicion that he was engaged in criminal conduct.			
	A.	Introduction	8	
	В.	Principles of law and standard of review	10	
	С.	Officer Seeger did not know that Mr. Anderson was subject to the reduced search requirements of Act 79 when he conducted the warrantless search.	11	
	D.	Even if this Court concludes that Officer Seeger had sufficient knowledge that Mr. Anderson was subject to Act 79, the warrantless search in this case was still illegal because there was insufficient reasonable suspicion that Mr. Anderson was committing, was about to commit or had committed a crime.	19	

1.	The tip does not provide reasonable suspicion 20
2.	Officer Seeger's observations of Mr. Anderson do not amount to reasonable suspicion. 25
CONCLUSION	28
CERTIFICATION	N AS TO FORM/LENGTH 29
	OF COMPLIANCE WITH 19(12)29
CERTIFICATION	N AS TO APPENDIX 30
APPENDIX	
	CASES CITED
Alabama v. White 496 U.S. 32	25 (1990)23, 24
Florida v. J.L.,	20 (2000)
525 U.S. 20	66 (2000)24
Illinois v. Gates,	.3, (1983)21
Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 21 Michigan v. DeFi	3, (1983)21
Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 21 Michigan v. DeFi 443 U.S. 31 Missouri v. McNe	3, (1983)21 llippo, (1979)12

Peopl	e v. Coleman, 2013 Il App (1st) 130030, 2 N.E.3d 1221, 377 Ill.Dec. 940 (2013)
Peopl	le v. Sanders, 31 Cal 4th 318,73 P.3d 496 (Calif. 2003)
Ricca	rdi v. Perini, 417 F.2d 645 (6 th Cir. 1969)16
Scott	v. U.S., 436 U.S. 128 (1978)
State	t v. Anderson, 17AP1104-CR8
State	v. Carroll, 2010 WI 8, 322 Wis. 2d 299, 778 N.W.2d 1
State	v. Donaldson, 221 Md.App. 134, 108 A.3d 500 (2015) 16
State	v. Gordon, 2014 WI App 44, 353 Wis.2d 468, 846 N.W.2d 483 10, 25, 26
State	v. Hajicek, 2001 WI 3, 240 Wis.2d 349, 620 N.W.2d 781 10
State	v. Kolk, 2006 WI App 261, 298 Wis. 2d 99, 726 N.W.2d 337 21, 22, 23
State	v. Mansfield, 55 Wis. 2d 274, 198 N.W.2d 634 (1972) 24

State v. Maron,
214 Wis. 2d 384, 571 N.W.2d 454 (Ct. App. 1997)
State v. Pallone,
2000 WI 77,
236 Wis.2d 162, 613 N.W.2d 568 11
$State\ v.\ Popp,$
2014 WI App 100,
357 Wis. 2d 696, 855 N.W.2d 471 11
State v. Pugh,
2013 WI App 12,
345 Wis. 2d 832, 826 N.W.2d 418 20
State v. Rutzinski,
2001 WI 22,
241 Wis. 2d 729, 623 N.W.2d 516passim
State v. Washington,
2005 WI App 123,
284 Wis. 2d 456, 700 N.W.2d 305 12
Terry v. Ohio,
392 U.S. 1 (1968)19
United States v. Calandra,
414 U.S. 338 (1974)18
United States v. Williams,
702 F.Supp.2d 1021 (N.D. Ill. 2010) 13
Wong Sun v. United States,
371 U.S. 471 (1963)11

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS AND STATUTES CITED

<u>United States Constitution</u>
U.S. CONST. amend. IV
Wisconsin Constitution
Wis. CONST. art. I, § 11
Wisconsin Statutes
§ 961.41(am)(cm)1g6
§ 961.48(1)(b)
§ 973.09(1)(d)
§ 973.09(2)(a)1r
§ 973.09(3)(d)
OTHER AUTHORITIES CITED
2013 Wis. Act 79passim
La Fave, Search and Seizure (3d ed.1996) 15
Levine, Marc V., "Milwaukee 53206: The Anatomy of Concentrated Disadvantage in an Inner City Neighborhood, 2000- 2017" (2019), available at
https://dc.uwm.edu/ced_pubs/48 18

ISSUES PRESENTED

2013 Wisconsin Act 79¹ created multiple statutes relating to searches by law enforcement officers of individuals on parole, extended supervision, or probation for certain offenses. The statutes allow an officer to search a defendant who is placed on any one of these forms of supervised release if the officer "reasonably suspects that the person is committing, is about to commit, or has committed a crime" or a violation of a condition of his release.

In this case, officers searched Mr. Anderson pursuant to Act 79, finding approximately 0.3 grams of cocaine in his pocket. At the time, the arresting officer believed that Mr. Anderson had been released to probation five months earlier but did not know what the probation was for or how long it was to last. Additionally, within the two-and-a-half weeks prior to the stop, a confidential informant told the officer that Mr. Anderson was selling narcotics in the area.

1. Did the arresting officer know that Mr. Anderson was subject to the reduced search provisions of Act 79 at the time he conducted a warrantless search of Mr. Anderson's person?

Both the circuit court and the Court of Appeals answered yes.

 $^{^{1}}$ App. 139-140.

2. Even assuming that police had sufficient knowledge that Mr. Anderson was subject to Act 79, did they have reasonable suspicion to search him?

Both the circuit court and Court of Appeals answered yes.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Facts Relevant to the Search of Mr. Anderson

On August 25, 2015, at about 4:00 p.m., Officer Michael Seeger observed Mr. Anderson riding his bicycle on a sidewalk, in violation of a city ordinance, near 16th Street and South Memorial Drive in Racine. (24:5-8; App. 113-116). According to Officer Seeger this area was a "high drug trafficking area." (24:9; App. 117). Officer Seeger knew Mr. Anderson from prior police contacts and had seen him in that area several times before. (24:7, 10; App. 115, 118).

Officer Seeger, who was in an unmarked police vehicle, made a U-turn and Mr. Anderson looked back and "continued to make several glances over his shoulder" at the officers as they were driving toward him.² (24:7-8; App. 115-116). Mr. Anderson made a right-hand turn down the back alley of South

² While not specifically discussed, from the testimony it appears that a second officer accompanied Officer Seeger. Only Officer Seeger testified at the suppression hearing.

Memorial Drive but he did not change his speed or pace. (24:8, 13; App. 116, 121).

Officer Seeger also saw Mr. Anderson put his left hand into his left front jacket pocket. (24:8-9; App. 116-117). Officer Seeger surmised that Mr. Anderson could conceivably grab contraband and drop it out of his pocket as he was pedaling away. (24:13; App. 121). However, Officer Seeger never viewed Mr. Anderson attempt to drop anything. (24:13-14; App. 121, 122).

When the officers made contact with Mr. Anderson, they ordered him to stop and he complied. (24:11; App. 119). Officer Seeger then searched Mr. Anderson, finding currency, two cell phones, and two individual bags of suspected crack cocaine with a total weight of 0.3 grams. (24:11; App. 119). Officer Seeger searched Mr. Anderson "[p]er Act 79." (24:14; App. 122). Officer Seeger did not have a warrant authorizing this search. (See generally 24).

In addition to the above-listed observations, during the two-and-a-half weeks prior to his search and arrest of Mr. Anderson, Officer Seeger testified that he received two tips "from a reliable and credible confidential informant" that Mr. Anderson was selling narcotics in the alley behind 1619 South Memorial Drive. (24:10; App. 118). These tips were undocumented, and Officer Seeger received the last of the two tips at least eight days prior to the stop. (24:10, 14; App. 118, 122). The record is devoid of any evidence supporting the assertion that Officer

Seeger's confidential informant was reliable or credible, and there was no evidence as to the informant's basis of knowledge. (See generally 24).

As to Officer Seeger's knowledge regarding Mr. Anderson's supervision status, he testified that at the time of the stop he believed Mr. Anderson was on probation,³ and therefore subject to Act 79.⁴ (24:14-15, 19; App. 122-123, 127). At the hearing on Mr. Anderson's motion to suppress, Officer Seeger testified as follows:

THE COURT: And when you say Act 79, were you aware was he on probation on August 25th, 2015.

OFFICER SEEGER: Yeah. Once he was released on probation, I ran him out. I did a record check of him and knew that he felony [sic] under Act 79.

 $^{^3}$ Mr. Anderson was not on probation but was on extended supervision. (11:9).

⁴ 2013 Wis. Act 79 created a number of different statutes that only require reasonable suspicion for a law enforcement search of people on community supervision, thereby creating a statutory exception to the warrant requirement. (App. 139-140). This brief refers to the statutes collectively as "Act 79" because that is how they have been referenced by all parties throughout the history of this case, although an offender would only be subject to a reduced search requirement pursuant to one of the specific statutes created via 2013 Wis. Act 79.

THE COURT: Do you know what period his probation was, when it ended or anything like that? Or did you just know in August that he was on probation?

OFFICER SEEGER: I knew Mr. Anderson was released on probation on March 17, 2015 which is after the date that Act 79 went into effect.

THE COURT: Do you know how long his probation was?

OFFICER SEEGER: That I do not know.

THE COURT: You said August of what of '15 he was put on probation?

OFFICER SEEGER: He was put on probation March 17, 2015.

(24:19; App. 127). Officer Seeger was also unclear regarding whether he knew the offense for which Mr. Anderson was on probation:

THE COURT: Tell me what you knew him from, how you knew him and so forth.

OFFICER SEEGER: Okay. Back in I believe 2012 I previously arrested Mr. Anderson for possession with intent crack cocaine. This was in a different area. [...]

Even prior to that [...] I've heard his name brought to my attention through other cooperative witnesses in 2012.

Then once he was released on probation after that case, I frequently seen him around 16th and Memorial.

(24:18; App. 126). There was also no evidence regarding Officer Seeger's knowledge of specific terms of Mr. Anderson's probation. (See generally 24).

Trial Court Proceedings

As a result of the drugs found in his pocket, the State charged Mr. Anderson with one count of possession of cocaine, one gram or less, with intent to deliver (second or subsequent offense), in violation of Wis. Stat. §§ 961.41(am)(cm)1g and 961.48(1)(b). (1:1). He challenged the police stop and search in a pretrial suppression motion. (7:1).

After an evidentiary hearing, the trial court denied Mr. Anderson's motion to suppress. (24:27; App. 135). In so doing, the trial court found that police were justified in stopping Mr. Anderson because he was violating a city ordinance by riding his bicycle on a city sidewalk. (24:24; App. 132). The court further found that when Mr. Anderson initially saw the officers, he placed his hand into his pocket. (24:25; App. 133). The trial court also found that Officer Seeger knew that Mr. Anderson was on "parole or probation from or extended supervision from" his arrest on a prior possession with intent to deliver cocaine case. (24:25; App. 133).

Additionally, the trial court found that although the information was "dated," Mr. Anderson

was found in the area that the informant reported he was selling cocaine in, and that the tip from the informant was not limited in time, implying a "continuing activity." (24:26; App. 134). The trial court also took issue with the fact that Mr. Anderson did not stop immediately upon seeing officers, but instead had to be "verbally instructed to stop." (24:26; App. 134). Finally, the trial court relied on the officer's testimony that it was a "high drug area in terms of drug sales and purchases." (Id.). The trial court found that Mr. Anderson was subject to Act 79, and officers had reasonable suspicion to search him. (Id.).

Mr. Anderson subsequently pled no contest to possession of cocaine, one gram or less, with intent to deliver (second or subsequent offense). (25:4; 9:1-2). The sentencing court imposed a sentence of 10 years imprisonment, comprised of five years initial confinement and five years extended supervision. (26:24; 14:1; App. 107).

Proceedings in the Court of Appeals

Mr. Anderson appealed the circuit court's denial of his suppression motion, arguing that under Act 79, Officer Seeger did not have sufficient knowledge of Mr. Anderson's supervision status and that he did not have reasonable suspicion that Mr. Anderson was engaged in criminal conduct at the time of the search.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the decision of the circuit court. *State v. Anderson*, No. 17AP1104-CR, ¶ 9, (Ct. App. September 12, 2018)(unpublished per curiam); (App. 104). The court concluded that, "Seeger had sufficient basis to believe that Anderson was subject to Act 79" because he was familiar with him, "having arrested him before for possession of cocaine," and was reasonable in his belief that the community supervision he knew Mr. Anderson to be on as of March 2015 was still in effect as of August 2015. *Id.*, ¶ 9; (App. 104). The court concluded that the officer had reasonable suspicion to conduct a search. *Id.*, ¶ 10; (App. 104).

This Court subsequently granted Mr. Anderson's petition for review.

ARGUMENT

I. The warrantless search of Mr. Anderson was illegal because Officer Seeger did not have sufficient knowledge that he was subject to Act 79, and there was no reasonable suspicion that he was engaged in criminal conduct.

A. Introduction.

At the time that he stopped and searched Mr. Anderson, Officer Seeger knew only that Mr. Anderson had been arrested for possession with intent to deliver in 2012 and that in March of 2015 Officer Seeger learned that he had been "released on

probation." (24:18-19; App. 126-127). This information is vague and does not amount to any reasonable level of certainty that Mr. Anderson was subject to the reduced search requirements of Act 79. This Court should not uphold the use by police of Act 79 to bypass constitutional protections based on such speculative information about whether the statute applies.

When an intrusion into a person's clothing or home that would otherwise violate the Fourth Amendment is allowable based on a particular factual predicate, an officer cannot be allowed to guess whether or not that factual predicate is present. If this Court sanctions police searches pursuant to Act 79 based on vague and uncertain information such as that possessed by Officer Seeger at the time that he searched Mr. Anderson, it will encourage officers to forgo a simple records check to determine the supervision status, and instead rely on generalized assumptions that they might possess about people within the community. In certain communities, police know that high percentages of the people that live there are on community supervision. A rule allowing warrantless searches based on generalized assumptions that a person has recently been on supervision will encourage officers to take their chances when deciding whether to conduct a warrantless search. Such intrusions on the Fourth Amendment rights of individuals, however, cannot be so casually made.

Furthermore, even if this Court finds that Officer Seeger had sufficient knowledge that Mr. Anderson was subject to Act 79 based on his supervision status, he did not reasonably suspect that Mr. Anderson was committing, was about to commit or had committed a crime. The only facts that Officer Seeger could rely on to form reasonable suspicion were that Mr. Anderson was in a high crime area, he acknowledged police presence, and he put his hand in his pocket, a set of facts that has been previously found not to constitute reasonable suspicion. *State v. Gordon*, 2014 WI App 44, 353 Wis.2d 468, 846 N.W.2d 483.

B. Principles of law and standard of review.

Both the United States and Wisconsin Constitutions guarantee citizens the right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures. U.S. Const. amend. IV; Wis. Const. art. I, § 11. "The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution is the securing anchor of the right of persons to their privacy against government intrusion." *State v. Gordon*, 2014 WI App 44, ¶ 11, 353 Wis.2d 468, 476, 846 N.W.2d 483.

A search of a person requires a warrant, and a warrantless search is considered unreasonable unless it falls within an exception to the warrant requirement. *State v. Hajicek*, 2001 WI 3, ¶ 36, 240 Wis.2d 349, 620 N.W.2d 781; *Missouri v. McNeely*, 569 U.S. 141 (2013). The state bears the burden of proving an exception to the warrant requirement.

State v. Pallone, 2000 WI 77, ¶ 29, 236 Wis.2d 162, 613 N.W.2d 568.

This Court applies a two-part test when reviewing the denial of a motion to suppress. $State\ v$. $Popp,\ 2014\ WI\ App\ 100,\ \P\ 13,\ 357\ Wis.\ 2d\ 696,\ 855\ N.W.2d\ 471.$ A circuit court's findings of fact are upheld unless clearly erroneous, but the application of constitutional principles to the facts are reviewed de novo. Id.

Where an unlawful search or seizure occurs, the remedy is to suppress the evidence produced. State v. Carroll, 2010 WI 8, ¶ 19, 322 Wis. 2d 299, 778 N.W.2d 1; Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471, 487-88 (1963).

- C. Officer Seeger did not know that Mr. Anderson was subject to the reduced search requirements of Act 79 when he conducted the warrantless search.
- 2013 Wisconsin Act 79 created multiple statutes relating to searches by law enforcement officers of individuals on probation, parole, or extended supervision. Regardless of whether it is probation, parole, or extended supervision, the statutes generally read as follows:

A person released under this section, his or her residence, and any property under his or her control may be searched by a law enforcement officer at any time during his or her period of supervision if the officer reasonably suspects that the person is committing, is about to commit, or has committed a crime or a violation of a condition of [release to extended supervision, parole, or probation]. Any search conducted pursuant to this subsection shall be conducted in a reasonable manner and may not be arbitrary, capricious, or harassing.

The statute pertaining to probation is more restrictive in that a person on probation is not *always* subject to a law enforcement search based on reasonable suspicion: the probation must be for (1) a felony, or (2) a violation of ch. 940 (crimes against life and bodily security), 948 (crimes against children), or 961 (uniform controlled substances act). Wis. Stat. § 973.09(1)(d).

"[A]lmost without exception in evaluating alleged violations of the Fourth Amendment the Court has first undertaken an objective assessment of an officer's actions in light of the facts and circumstances then known to him." Scott v. U.S., 436 U.S. 128, 137 (1978)(emphasis added). See also Michigan υ. DeFillippo, 443 U.S. 31, 37 (1979)(emphasis added) (to arrest someone probable cause, the "facts and circumstances within the officer's knowledge [must be] sufficient to warrant a prudent person, or one of reasonable caution, in believing...that the suspect has committed...an offense."); State v. Washington, 2005 WI App 123, ¶ 16, 284 Wis. 2d 456, 700 N.W.2d 305(emphasis added) (to seize a suspect based on reasonable suspicion, "facts known to the officer at the time of the stop," along with rational inferences in the totality of the circumstances, must support that reasonable suspicion.).

Other courts have previously addressed the question of what quantum of evidence the police must have before engaging in a warrantless search of an individual on community supervision under a relaxed standard based on that status. Those courts have concluded that officers must know the person's community supervision status exposing them to a reduced search standard before the search is conducted.

For example, in *United States v. Williams*, 702 F.Supp.2d 1021 (N.D. Ill. 2010), police received information from an informant that Williams and another man, Austin, had committed multiple bank robberies. *Id.* at 1023. Police began surveillance of an apartment where they believed Austin to be located and ultimately entered and searched that apartment without a warrant. *Id.* at 1025. At least one officer knew that Austin was on parole at the time but did not testify about his awareness of any conditions of that parole. *Id.* at 1024,1031.

At the time of the search, Austin was in fact on mandatory supervised release (parole) from the Illinois Department of Corrections and one of the conditions of his supervision was that he must consent to a law enforcement search of his person, property or residence under his control. *Id.* at 1026. This condition of supervision is mandatory under Illinois law. *Id.* at 1031.

The federal district court ordered the evidence suppressed. *Id.* at 1031. In doing so, it stated:

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