RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **07-02-2019**

IN SUPREME COUR PLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2007AP1104-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ROY S. ANDERSON,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT II, AFFIRMING A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN RACINE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MICHAEL J. PIONTEK, PRESIDING

RESPONSE BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SARAH L. BURGUNDY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1071646

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court's findings that Anderson was subject to Act 79 and that Officer Seeger knew it were not clearly erroneous.

Anderson first asserts that Officer Seeger did not sufficiently know Anderson's community-supervision status and that he was subject to Act 79. (Anderson's Br. 8–19.) He is wrong. Because the circuit court made sound findings to the contrary and both lower courts reached correct legal conclusions, Anderson is not entitled to relief on this portion of his claim.

A. Parolees, probationers, and supervisees have diminished protections under the Fourth Amendment compared to lawabiding citizens.

Fourth Amendment to the United Constitution from protects individuals unreasonable searches and seizures. Young, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 17. But "what is unreasonable for a probationer differs from what is unreasonable for a law-abiding citizen." State v. Purtell, 2014 WI 101, ¶ 22, 358 Wis. 2d 212, 851 N.W.2d 417. While "[l]aw-abiding citizens are entitled to the full panoply of protections provided the under Amendment," probationers, parolees, and supervisees "do not enjoy the absolute liberty to which every citizen is entitled" and have "significantly diminished privacy interests." Id. (citing Samson v. California, 547 U.S. 843, 849-50 (2006)).

That is so, in part, because "the very assumption of the institution of probation" is that the probationer and other individuals serving a criminal sentence in the community are "more likely than . . . ordinary citizen[s] to violate the law." See United States v. Knights, 534 U.S. 112, 120 (2001). Accordingly, to balance the State's dual interest in an offender successfully completing a term of supervision and its concern that the offender will commit new crimes, searches of individuals on probation or other forms of community supervision can be subject to searches supported by reasonable suspicion that the offender has committed, is committing, or is about to commit a new crime. See id. at 121 (upholding reasonableness of law enforcement search of probationer's home "[w]hen an officer has reasonable suspicion that a probationer is subject to a search condition is engaged in criminal activity").

Act 79 took effect on December 14, 2013, and applies to people released on parole, extended supervision, and probation after that date. *See* Wis. Stat. § 302.113(7r). The Act, as it relates to people released on extended supervision under Wis. Stat. § 302.113(7r), provides in relevant part:

A person . . . , his or her residence, and any property under his or her control may be searched by a law enforcement officer at any time during his period of supervision if the officer reasonably suspects that the person is committing, is about to commit, or has committed a crime or a violation of a condition of release to extended supervision.

Id.

B. Under Wisconsin law, Officer Seeger needed to have a reasonable belief that Anderson was subject to Act 79.

Wisconsin courts have not considered what quantum of information an officer must have available to him or her to know whether a person is subject to Act 79.

Generally, in assessing questions whether law enforcement had sufficient knowledge of a person's legal status or the legality of their actions, the officer must have a "reasonable belief" that the status or action in question was legal. See, e.g., Illinois v. Rodriguez, 497 U.S. 177, 188 (1990) (applying "reasonable belief" standard to question whether officer knew warrantless entry was legal).

Under this standard, a court examines whether the officer's belief was reasonable under the totality of the circumstances test. *Id.* For example, in *State v. Kassube*, a police officer stopped Kassube because he believed that Kassube did not have a driver's license. 2003 WI App 64, ¶ 2, 260 Wis. 2d 876, 659 N.W.2d 499. There, the police officer had known Kassube for nine to twelve years, during which Kassube had never had a license, and as of eleven months

before the stop at issue, the officer knew that Kassube had no license. Id. ¶¶ 2, 8. The court of appeals held that the officer's belief was reasonable: "It was reasonable for [the officer] to believe that if Kassube had not obtained a license in nine to twelve years, he did not do so in the last eleven months and was likely to be driving without a license." Id. ¶ 8.

Similarly, in *State v. Tomlinson*, 2002 WI 91, ¶ 27, 254 Wis. 2d 502, 648 N.W.2d 367, the issue was whether police sufficiently knew that a girl opening a door at Tomlinson's house was his daughter and thus had authority to consent to their entry. There, this Court held that the officers reasonably believed that the girl opening the door was one of Tomlinson's daughters, based on their knowledge that he had two teenage daughters, the girl opening the door was a teenager, and Tomlinson was nearby when she answered the door and did not object when the girl allowed the officers inside. Id. ¶ 28.

That reasonable belief test is appropriate to apply to whether an officer knows that a person is subject to Act 79. And Anderson appears to agree on that standard, based on his citations to cases applying the objective reasonable belief test for assessing a police officer's actions. (Anderson's Br. 12–13 (citing *Scott v. United States*, 436 U.S. 128, 137 (1978); *Michigan v. DeFillippo*, 443 U.S. 31, 37 (1979); *State v. Washington*, 2005 WI App 123, ¶ 16, 284 Wis. 2d 456, 700 N.W.2d 305).) Hence, the dispute here boils down to whether Officer Seeger objectively reasonably believed that Anderson was subject to Act 79 under the circumstances. As discussed below, he did.

C. Officer Seeger objectively reasonably believed that Anderson was subject to Act 79 under the circumstances.

Here, Officer Seeger testified that he was aware of Anderson's status because he had checked Anderson's record at some point after Anderson was released from prison on a felony conviction on March 17, 2015, which was after Act 79 went into effect. (R. 24:19.) Officer Seeger's curiosity about Anderson's status was understandable for several reasons. He had arrested Anderson in 2012 for the felony—possession with intent to deliver crack cocaine—that resulted in Anderson's imprisonment and release to extended supervision. (R. 24:18–19.) Given that testimony, the circuit court soundly found that Officer Seeger "had . . . arrested [Anderson] in the past for possession with intent to deliver," "knew that [Anderson] was on parole or probation . . . or extended supervision from that arrest," and knew that Anderson was subject to an Act 79 search. (R. 24:25.) And those findings support the conclusion that Seeger's belief was objectively reasonable under the circumstances.

Anderson disagrees. He emphasizes that Officer Seeger used the term "probation" to refer to Anderson's status when he was actually on extended supervision. (Anderson's Br. 12, 16–18.) But that Seeger misstated the form of community supervision that Anderson was serving makes no difference: Officer Seeger knew that Anderson had been convicted of a felony, which would have made him subject to Act 79 regardless whether he was serving probation or extended supervision. Wis. Stat. §§ 302.113(7r); 973.09(1d).

Moreover, it is not unusual for parties or courts to use the term "probation" interchangeably with other forms of community supervision like supervision or parole. *See, e.g.*, G.G.D. v. State, 97 Wis. 2d 1, 4 n.2, 292 N.W.2d 853 (1980) (explaining its choice to use the term "probation" to refer to juvenile "supervision"). Accordingly, the circuit court—to the extent that it found that Seeger knew that Anderson "was on parole or probation . . . or extended supervision" from the 2012 arrest for a felony—was entitled to infer that Officer Seeger used the term "probation" to refer generally to Anderson's community-supervision status, particularly given that Seeger credibly testified that he actually checked Anderson's record to make himself aware of his status.⁸

Anderson suggests that Officer Seeger was operating off of stale information, in part because "probation can last for less than five months in some cases and it can be terminated early." (Anderson's Br. 17.) There are a few flaws with that argument. To start, it is built on the faulty factual premise that Officer Seeger learned no later than March 17, 2015—Anderson's release date—that Anderson was on community supervision. (See Anderson's Br. 8, 16.) The record, however, is not clear as to when between March 17 and August 25 that Officer Seeger located Anderson's record and learned his status. Again, when asked whether he was aware that Anderson was subject to Act 79 on August 25, 2015, Seeger answered, "Yeah. Once he was released on probation, I ran him out. I did a record check of him and

⁸ Anderson is wrong to deem clearly erroneous any findings by the circuit court beyond that Seeger arrested Anderson in 2012 for possession with intent to deliver and that he was released on probation in March 2015. (Anderson's Br. 17 n.5.) Seeger was also aware that he was released on felony charges in March 2015 (R. 24:19), and as discussed, the circuit court was entitled to infer that Seeger understood that Anderson had been released on a form of community supervision on a date that made him subject to Act 79.

knew that he felony [sic] under Act 79." (R. 24:19.) In other words, at some point after Anderson was released, Seeger checked and saw that Anderson was released on a felony conviction on March 17, 2015, which meant that Anderson was serving community supervision and subject to Act 79. It is not clear when, between March 17 and August 25, 2015, Seeger made that check.

But even assuming that Officer Seeger checked Anderson's record on or near March 17, 2015, his belief that Anderson was still subject to Act 79 five months later was objectively reasonable. That is so because the community supervision portion for anything but the most minimal felony sentence is highly unlikely to be less than six months. See, e.g., Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2) (setting minimum and maximum periods for bifurcated sentences).

To that end, Anderson's claims to the contrary lack support because the statutes Anderson cites (see Anderson's Br. 17 (citing Wis. Stat. § 973.09(2)(a)1.)), provide for minimum probation periods for misdemeanors, which are generally at least six months. Here, Seeger knew that Anderson was convicted of a felony, which would carry a minimum probation period of one year. Wis. Stat. § 973.09(2)(b)2. Moreover, the availability of shortened probation only applies after a petitioner has served at least half of his term of probation, which for a felon given a minimal probation of one year would still mean that he would serve at least six months' time. Wis. Stat. § 973.09(3)(d).

Further, the out-of-state cases that Anderson cites are off-point and do not lend persuasive support. (Anderson's Br. 13–16.) In *United States v. Williams*, 702 F. Supp. 2d 1021, 1031 (N.D. Ill. 2010), a federal district court held that

under Illinois law regarding parole searches, officers needed to be aware of three things: (1) the offender was on parole, (2) the parole agreement contained a search condition, and (3) the place to be searched was the offender's residence. There, the State satisfied the first prong because an officer knew before the search that the offender was on parole, but it failed the second and third prongs, because it did not know whether the offender's agreement contained a search provision and whether the apartment that police searched was his residence. *Id*.

Unlike the law in Illinois, under Act 79, Officer Seeger only needed to know that Anderson was on parole, probation, or extended supervision for a felony and that the period of supervision commenced after the Act's effective date in December 2013. As discussed, he knew that information. *Williams* does not assist Anderson.

Nor does *People v. Sanders*, 73 P.3d 496, 507–08 (Cal. 2003). (Anderson's Br. 14–15.) In *Sanders*, the officers who searched the defendant did not know that the defendant was on parole or that he was subject to a search condition of his parole; rather, they learned this information after the search. *Id.* at 499. In contrast, here, Officer Seeger did not make an unlawful search and then seek to have the evidence salvaged by a later discovery of Anderson's status. Rather, he made a lawful search based on his reasonable belief that Anderson was subject to Act 79 under the circumstances. That Anderson's record in fact confirmed Seeger's reasonable belief did not turn Seeger's actions into the "search-first, check-later" scenario criticized in *Sanders*.

For the same reasons, none of the other cases Anderson cites (Anderson's Br. 16) support his position. He has identified no cases that suggest that information similar to what Officer Seeger had available to him before he stopped Anderson was insufficient to establish an objectively reasonable belief that a defendant was on community supervision.

To the contrary, at least one case provides persuasive authority supporting the State's position. In *People v. Douglas*, 193 Cal. Rptr. 3d 79, 93–94 (Cal. Ct. App. 2015), a defendant challenged a search under California's equivalent to Act 79 by arguing that the police officer did not know he was subject to a probation search, where the officer had last verified the defendant's post-release community supervision (PRCS) status two months before the search. The California court held that the officer had an objectively reasonable belief of the defendant's status under circumstances similar to those here. The court wrote that "[o]ne of the key distinguishing feature of this case is that [the detective] had personally been involved in a previous arrest of [the defendant] for a weapons violation approximately two years before the current offense." *Id.* In addition, the detective

⁹ See People v. Coleman, 2 N.E.3d 1221, 1224–25 (Ill. App. 2013) (holding that search was unlawful where officers did not know that the defendant was on parole); State v. Donaldson, 108 A.3d 500, 504 (Md. 2015) (holding that search by officer with no knowledge of defendant's probationary status could not be saved by later discovery of that status); Moreno v. Baca, 431 F.3d 633, 638–39 (9th Cir. 2005) (holding that valid parole search required officers to know that the defendant was on parole); Riccardi v. Perini, 417 F.2d 645, 648 (6th Cir. 1969) (invalidating search where officers did not know the defendant, had no prior information about him, did not know he was on parole, and had no knowledge that a crime had been committed).

knew that the defendant had been released from prison to supervision for the conviction from that prior arrest, and "his presumed knowledge of the law pertaining to firearms offenses, related punishments, and the usual length of PRCS, it was reasonable for him to make a rough calculation that [the defendant] would still be on PRCS as a result of the earlier offense." *Id*.

Anderson also suggests that upholding the court's findings regarding Officer Seeger's reasonable belief here would encourage a search-first, check-later approach that police could exploit. (Anderson's Br. 18.) Not so. Again, Officer Seeger knew Anderson, he was aware of his status, and he knew that Anderson was subject to Act 79. This wasn't a situation where law enforcement encountered an unknown person who they thought was more likely than not was subject to Act 79 and opted to "play the odds" by searching him or her.

Finally, Anderson urges this Court to adopt a rule requiring police officers, "when possible, to simply run a records check to determine an individual's supervision status prior to conducting a search." (Anderson's Br. 18–19.) But reasonable belief under the totality of the circumstances does not require absolute certainty. Asking officers to check, when practicable, a defendant's record before conducting an Act 79 search is certainly a good practice, but it is unnecessary when, as here, the law enforcement officer reasonably believed, based on all the facts available to him, that Anderson was subject to Act 79. This Court should affirm on this question.

II. Officer Seeger had reasonable suspicion to search Anderson under Act 79.

As shown above, Anderson was subject to Act 79. Before searching a person who is subject to the Act, law

enforcement must have reasonable suspicion that the person was also engaged in criminal activity. Here, Officer Seeger had that reasonable suspicion, and Anderson is not entitled to relief.

A. Reasonable suspicion is a fact-intensive, totality-of-the-circumstances test that does not require police to rule out the possibility of innocent behavior.

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